FILED 10-19-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

# STATE OF WISCONSIN

# IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP001642-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PETER J. KING, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW AND APPENDIX

JOSEPH N. EHMANN Regional Attorney Manager – Madison Appellate State Bar No. 1016411

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8388 ehmannj@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

#

### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Is the circuit court's order barring Mr. King from possessing any device capable of accessing the Internet while on extended supervision without agent permission, and barring access to the Internet except as approved by the agent other than on "public devices" to seek employment or perform government functions such as filing taxes or renewing a driver's license, insufficiently narrowly tailored and therefore overbroad and violative of King's First Amendment rights?

The circuit court at the conclusion of a postconviction hearing ruled the conditions did not violate Mr. King's constitutional rights, and denied Mr. King's motion to vacate the conditions. (118:17-18; App. 149-50).

The court of appeals ruled "the extended supervision conditions imposed by the circuit court that will restrict King's access to the Internet are not overly broad and do not improperly infringe King's First Amendment rights to freedom of speech and freedom of association." Slip Op. at ¶ 4. (App. 102). Regarding access contingent on agent approval, the court of appeals ruled it would be "in derogation of common sense" to believe a government agent would "use his or her discretion unreasonably." *Id.* at ¶ 55. (App. 123).

Case 2019AP001642 Petition for Review Filed 10-19-2020 Page 5 of 33

2. Did the court err in concluding the holding or rationale of *Packingham v. North Carolina*, 137 S.Ct. 1735 (2017), inapplicable to persons on supervision and therefore not a new factor for purposes of sentence modification?

After a hearing the circuit court denied Mr. King's motion for sentence modification. (118:17-18). (App. 149-50).

The court of appeals affirmed, ruling Packingham not controlling. Slip Op. at ¶ 80. (App. 132).

#### CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

This court should grant review to develop and clarify the law regarding a circuit court's discretion to impose supervision conditions relating to restricting Internet access that are not narrowly tailored to a legitimate sentencing purpose and which impermissibly impinge supervisees' on First Amendment rights. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c). This is a rapidly developing area of law which requires this court's analysis and guidance to reject the imprimatur the court of appeals grants to draconian supervision conditions which do nothing but set up supervisees to fail and more importantly violate rights guaranteed by the First Amendment. The court should also grant review and rule clarification of the law regarding impermissible Internet restrictions was a new factor warranting resentencing.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2005, Mr. King was charged with child enticement, use of a computer to facilitate child sex crime, misdemeanor possession of THC. (1:1). The complaint alleged that Mr. King, who was 44 years old at the time, attempted to arrange through an Internet chat application a sexual encounter with someone posing as a 15-year-old girl, who was actually an undercover police officer. (1:2–3).

In February 2007, a jury convicted Mr. King of each count. (20:1; 21:1; 22:1). In April 2007, the circuit court, the Honorable James Evenson presiding, sentenced King on use of computer conviction to four years of initial confinement and four years of extended supervision. (110:26; 58:1; 78:2). On child enticement conviction, the court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. King filed a postconviction motion seeking a new trial, which the circuit court denied following a hearing. (46:1). Mr. King appealed, and this court affirmed the postconviction court's ruling and Mr. King's convictions. (61; 60:1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The original judgments of conviction erroneously interchanged the sentences on Counts 1 and 2. *See* (42:1; 43:1). Corrected judgments of conviction were issued on March 18, 2009, but those judgements erroneously stated that the probationary period in Count 1 was to run consecutive to "Ct. 1 extended supervision," (57:1), and Count 2 was to run "consecutive to Ct. 1 probation." (58:1). In 2016, the court noted this error and issued an order amending the judgments of convictions to reflect that Mr. King serve the eight-year sentence on Count 2, followed by a consecutive ten-year period of probation on Count 1. (76:1–2). In accordance with the

withheld sentence and placed Mr. King on ten years' consecutive to the prison sentence. probation, (110:26; 57:1; 78:1).

As a condition of extended supervision and probation, the court ordered King to register as a sex offender. (110:27). The court also imposed a blanket prohibition on "use or access to a computer that has Internet access, either be it at your residence of place of employment, and any computer access is to be reported to your supervising agent. Computer access would include a cell phone that permits computer access." (110:27).

In December 2009, the court issued an order amending King's condition of supervision regarding computer and Internet use. The amendment provided for "Internet access at a job center for application purposes only or place of business of which defendant wishes to work for application purposes only, per agent." (59:1).3 Mr. King was still prohibited from Internet use anywhere else or for any other purpose, and from owning or accessing any devices that were capable of accessing the Internet. (59:1; 78:2).

court's order, corrected judgments of conviction were entered. (78:1-3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. King's amended judgments of conviction did not include any reference to Internet use at a job center solely for application purposes; instead, the conditions provided the same blanket ban on Internet use and access to computers or phones capable of accessing the Internet. See (57:1, 58:1; 78:1-2).

Case 2019AP001642 Petition for Review Filed 10-19-2020 Page 8 of 33

While King was on extended supervision, he was revoked and re-confined twice for accessing the Internet and using social media, for operating a business without approval, and for possessing devices capable of accessing the Internet. (80:5, 6). He was not charged with any new criminal offenses. (80:5, 6).

Mr. King was released to supervision in Sauk County in 2014. (80:6). During this time King had difficulty finding employment and was homeless for a period of time. (80:6). In 2015, King enrolled in a transitional housing program for veterans in Rock County, during which time he obtained employment, completed primary sex offender treatment, and engaged in sex offender aftercare treatment. (80:6, 10).

Mr. King was discharged from extended supervision in July 2016, and he began his ten-year probation term. (80:6). When the veterans program ended in late 2016, King's agent directed him to return to Sauk County. (80:7). King lost his employment and he was placed on GPS monitoring because he was homeless and living in a camper. (80:8; 81:10–11).

A revocation order and warrant was filed on January 8, 2018, which recommended that Mr. King receive a 12- to 16-year sentence. (80:11). The revocation order and warrant averred that King's probation was being revoked because he accessed social media websites, possessed devices with Internet access, started a business without

Case 2019AP001642 Petition for Review Filed 10-19-2020 Page 9 of 33

agent approval, started an online relationship with a female without agent approval, and was not forthcoming with his agent about his Internet use. (80:4–9). King was not charged with any new criminal offenses prior or subsequent to his revocation. (80:5–6, 9; 91:8 n.6).

The revocation summary posited that Mr. King needed to be punished and the community needed to be protected from him because he "uses the [I]nternet for sexual deviancy or to seek out and manipulate teenage girls." (80:10, 11). The revocation order and warrant did not, however, identify any instances of such conduct aside from the 2005 conduct which led to his convictions. (80:4–11).

A sentencing after revocation of probation hearing was subsequently held, the Honorable Wendy J.N. Klicko, presiding. The court summarized Mr. King's prior convictions, noted that he had "been on probation in the past and ha[s] been revoked," and acknowledged that King is a discharged veteran who completed sex offender treatment. (117:28–29; App. 184-85).

The court acknowledged that Mr. King made significant efforts to obtain employment and find stability, and he was "bounc[ed] back and forth between Sauk and Rock County, and attempting to meet his probation rules." (117:30; App. 186). The court explained that the rules of King's supervision were meant to be "protective of society and . . . for the defendant not to reoffend in the manner that resulted

Case 2019AP001642 Petition for Review Filed 10-19-2020 Page 10 of 33

in the original criminal charge and conviction." (117:30; App. 186). Specific to Internet usage, the court found that those conditions were "the most important" because they dealt with "engaging or having access to those very tools" that led to his charges. (117:31). It noted that the court previously made allowances for King to use the Internet to find employment, but he chose to have unfettered access. (117:32; App. 188).

The court sentenced Mr. King to four years of confinement and four years of extended supervision. (117:33; App. 189). It ordered that all conditions of probation previously in place were to be conditions of extended supervision. (117:33; App. 189).

Mr. King subsequently filed a postconviction motion asserting his extended supervision conditions regarding Internet usage should be removed because they were unconstitutionally overbroad. (91:1, 8–11). The motion also sought resentencing. (91: 1, 12–14). As an alternative to resentencing, King moved the court to reduce his sentence on the basis that the condition regarding Internet use that he violated was overbroad and unconstitutional under the rationale articulated in *Packingham v. North Carolina*, 137 S. Ct. 1730 (2017). (91:1, 14–17).

After briefing, the court held a hearing on King's postconviction motion. (118). The court denied the motion for resentencing. (118:14; App. 146). Regarding the supervision condition restricting Internet use, the court determined that King's

Case 2019AP001642 Petition for Review Filed 10-19-2020 Page 11 of 33

First Amendment rights were not unconstitutionally constrained. (118:17; App. 149). Specifically, it found the decision in *Packingham* was limited to "someone who has served their sentence, and then is on the Registry and there's a statute," and King's case dealt with a condition of extended supervision where "courts are allowed to put into place certain conditions of supervision that may curtail someone's rights when they have been convicted." (118:17–18; App. 149-50). The court applied that same reasoning to deny King's motion to modify his sentence. (118:17–18; App. 149-50).

The court then acknowledged that modification of Mr. King's conditions of extended supervision would be appropriate because "the internet is very different now than it was even a couple of years ago" and his condition curtailed "some perhaps valid access that a defendant may need to have." (118:18; App. 150). The court left the record open to allow the parties to submit proposed conditions of supervision related to Internet use. (118:20–23; App. 152-55).

Following additional submissions by the parties, the court issued a written decision and order. The order explained that Mr. King's motions to vacate his condition of extended supervision and for resentencing were denied for the reasons stated on the record. (95:1; App. 193). The court's order modified King's condition of extended supervision to permit access to the Internet or devices capable of accessing the Internet at his agent's discretion. (95:2; App. 194). The court's order further provided

Case 2019AP001642 Petition for Review Filed 10-19-2020 Page 12 of 33

that King's agent should not restrict King's "access through public devices for purposes of obtaining employment or performing any legitimate government functions such as filing taxes or renewing driver's license or license plates, etc." (95:2; App. 194). An amended judgment of conviction consistent with the court's order was entered. (96; App. 195-97). King appealed. (98).

On appeal Mr. King renewed his arguments that the extended supervision conditions relating to Internet access violated rights guaranteed to him by the First Amendment and that he was entitled to resentencing based upon a new factor. The court of appeals acknowledged a split of authority regarding the applicability of *Packingham*'s holding to a person on supervision because the specific facts of that case involved restrictions imposed on a sex offender registrant. Slip Op. at ¶¶ 38-43 (App. 114-17). Though the Court in *Packingham* noted regarding social media access "in the legitimate exercise of First Amendment rights" that not "just persons who have completed their sentence," but "[e]ven convicted criminals—and in some instances especially criminals—might receive convicted legitimate benefits from these means of access to the world of ideas, in particular if they seek to reform and pursue lawful and rewarding lives" [137 S. Ct. at 1737], the court of appeals here ruled *Packingham* inapplicable and rejected King's arguments on that basis. The court ruled conditions which granted Mr. King no personal right to access the Internet except through some sort of public device for purposes of gaining Case 2019AP001642 Petition for Review Filed 10-19-2020 Page 13 of 33

employment or a government function such as filing taxes were sufficiently narrowly tailored and not overbroad. This was so because King could gain access for protected First Amendment use at the discretion of his agent, and it would be "in derogation of common sense" to suggest that an agent would unreasonably restrict such access. Slip Op. at ¶¶ 55, 71, 80.

Mr. King petitions this court for review.

#### ARGUMENT

I. Extended supervision conditions barring Mr. King from possessing Internet devices and access to social media sites, except at the discretion of his agent, were not sufficiently narrowly tailored to protect rights guaranteed to King under the First Amendment, and were therefore imposed as the result of an erroneous exercise of discretion.

The court of appeals makes a baseless claim that "[i]n asking to vacate portions of the extended supervision conditions, King attempts to re-write the history that was before the circuit court." Slip Op. ¶ 67. (App. 127). Nothing could be further from the truth. King acknowledges the nature of his conviction, and his struggle in failing to comply with what had been essentially a total ban on Internet use as a supervision condition, particularly after the transitional housing program for veterans he was in

Case 2019AP001642 Petition for Review Filed 10-19-2020 Page 14 of 33

ended and he became homeless. King acknowledges while he has engaged in no new criminal conduct, he nevertheless impermissibly and repeatedly accessed the Internet while attempting to feed, clothe and shelter himself and maintain his sanity while on supervision for a sex crime. King acknowledges the government's authority to heavily monitor his Internet activity, and to bar him from sites or activities relevant to the sentencing preventing him from preying on children. The court of appeals, though, rejects what the SCOTUS and other courts recognize; that the world of ideas, of commerce, of information, of social interaction, has largely moved on-line, and is accessible only via the Internet and that overly restricting access violates rights guaranteed to all, including supervisees, under the First Amendment.

The court of appeals here fails to recognize that a supervision condition granting an agent near total discretion to bar King from the Internet except to apply for a job or file taxes is not a condition narrowly tailored sufficiently to a legitimate sentencing purpose and violates King's First Amendment rights, and therefore must be stricken or reconsidered to protect such rights. The court of appeals' decision is at odds with the rationale of Packingham v. North Carolina, 137 S.Ct. 1735, 1737 (2017), and decisions in other jurisdictions that have considered the issue of Internet restrictions for supervisees. See e.g. State v. R.K., 232 A.3d 487 (N.J. Ct. App. 2020); Matter of Sickels, 469 P.3d 322 (WA Ct. App. 2020); People v. Morger, No. 123643,

Case 2019AP001642 Petition for Review Filed 10-19-2020 Page 15 of 33

2019WL6199600 (IL Nov. 21, 2019); and Fazilli v. Commonwealth, 835 S.E.2d 87 (VA Ct. App. 2019); & Mutter v. Ross, 811 S.E.2d 866 (WV 2018). This court should grant review and reverse.

#### A. Relevant law and standard of review.

Wisconsin circuit courts have a broad largely undefined discretion "reasonable, to impose appropriate, and legally correct" conditions on persons serving an extended supervision term. State v. Hoppe, 2014 WI App 51, ¶ 7, 354 Wis. 2d 219, 847 N.W.2d 869; Wis. Stat. § 973.01(5). Generally, a circuit court's discretionary decisions are accorded deferential review which, as a practical matter, means a reviewing court will affirm even seemingly counter-productive supervision conditions if but a thin veneer or appearance of relevance exists to support a legitimate sentencing goal. *Id.* However, supervision conditions that impinge on constitutional rights are different in that they: (1) are not accorded deferential review, (2) must not be "overly broad" (i.e. must be narrowly tailored to a legitimate sentencing goal), and (3) must be "reasonably related" (not just appear to be) to the purposes of sentencing. State v. Stewart, 2006 WI App 67, ¶ 12, 291 Wis. 2d 480, 713 N.W.2d 165. Whether a supervision condition violates a defendant's constitutional rights is a question of law this court reviews de novo. Id.

In cases analyzing the balance between protecting constitutional rights and the government's interest in imposing order through its prosecutorial Case 2019AP001642 Petition for Review Filed 10-19-2020 Page 16 of 33

power, the SCOTUS has recognized the degree to which the line between analog and digital reality has blurred, and how fully incorporated the Internet is in nearly every aspect of society. One court has noted:

> As the Supreme Court recently reiterated, "cell phones and the services they provide are 'such a pervasive and insistent part of daily life' that carrying one is indispensable to participation in modern society." Carpenter v. United States, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 138 S.Ct. 2206, 2210, 201 L. Ed. 2d 507 (2018) (quoting Riley v. California, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 2478, 189 L. Ed. 2d 430 (2014)); see also Packingham v. North Carolina, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 137 S. Ct. 1730, 198 L. Ed. 2d 273 (2017). Although Internet access through smart phones and other devices undeniably offers the potential for wrongdoing, to consign individual to a life virtually without access to the Internet is to exile that person from society.

United States v. Eaglin, 913 F.3d 83, 91 ( $2^{nd}$  Cir. 2019).

In Packingham the Court noted regarding social media access "in the legitimate exercise of First Amendment rights" that not "just persons who have completed their sentence," but "[e]ven convicted criminals—and in some instances especially criminals—might convicted receive legitimate benefits from these means of access to the world of ideas, in particular if they seek to reform and pursue lawful and rewarding lives." Packingham, 137 S. Ct. at 1737. Thus, if the goal in a given case is protection of the public to prevent a supervised person from

Case 2019AP001642 Petition for Review Filed 10-19-2020 Page 17 of 33

"preying on children," the court "must tailor its restriction to that end" and cannot bar First Amendment-protected "internet and computer uses that have nothing to do with preying on children." *United States v. Holena*, 906 F.3d 288, 293 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 2018).

Under this line of cases, as with limitations on physical movement, a court is free to set carefully delineated narrowly tailored restrictions limiting access to sites on the Internet relevant to the legitimate goal of public protection. *E.g. State v. Simonetto*, 2000 WI App 17, 232 Wis. 2d 315, 606 N.W.2d 275 (condition barring sex offender from going "where children may congregate" upheld.). But in "only highly unusual circumstances will a total Internet ban imposed as a condition of supervised release be substantively reasonable and not amount to a 'greater deprivation of liberty than is reasonably necessary' to implement the statutory purposes of sentencing." *Eaglin, Id.* 913 F.3d at 97.

B. The device and Internet restrictions the court imposed on Mr. King are overbroad and not reasonably related to the goals of rehabilitation or public protection.

As the court of appeals acknowledges at ¶ 15 the circuit court imposed as a condition of Mr. King's extended supervision that he not "possess device[s] capable of accessing the internet" except with "express permission of [his] agent," and that except for "access through public devices for purposes of

Case 2019AP001642 Petition for Review Filed 10-19-2020 Page 18 of 33

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