FILED
04-27-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2019AP1642-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PETER J. KING, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SONYA K. BICE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1058115

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-3935 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) bicesk@doj.state.wi.us

Filed 04-27-2021

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

King was sentenced to a prison sentence and a consecutive probation sentence.

On the charge of using a computer to facilitate a child sex crime, the circuit court sentenced King to initial confinement and extended supervision. (Pet-App. 103–04.) On the charge of child enticement, the circuit court withheld sentence and placed King on probation for ten years, to be served consecutive to his prison sentence. (Pet-App. 104.)

⁸ These facts are taken from the circuit court's order and the court of appeals' decision included in the petitioner's appendix.

King's convictions were affirmed on direct appeal.

King appealed, seeking to reverse his conviction on the grounds of improperly admitted evidence. (Pet-App. 104.) The court of appeals affirmed. (Pet-App. 104.)

King was revoked twice for internet violations during the extended supervision that immediately followed his prison sentence.

King served his initial confinement and was released in December 2009 to complete extended supervision. (Pet-App. 104.) As conditions of his supervision, he was to have no use of or access to an internet-enabled computer; this condition was amended to permit access at limited locations for the purpose of completing online job applications. (Pet-App. 103– 04.) King's extended supervision was revoked in October 2011 for having a Facebook account, possession of computers, possession of internet services, possession of a blackberry phone, and viewing sexually explicit websites. (Pet-App. 104.) He served a revocation sentence and was released again in May 2012. (Pet-App. 105.) He was revoked a second time and served another revocation sentence for, among other things, "being in possession of two computers, accessing the internet, possessing sexually explicit pictures, having a profile on sugardaddyforme.com . . . possess[ing] a cellphone that had ... internet capabilities and g[iving] his [DOC] agent false information." (Pet-App. 105.) He completed this portion of his sentence in July 2016. (Pet-App. 105.)

King was revoked for internet-related violations during his probation term.

King started the ten-year probation term that was ordered consecutive to the prison sentence. (Pet-App. 105.) The rules of supervision for King's probation limited his internet access just as before. (Pet-App. 105.) King's supervision was revoked less than 18 months later for "having

an active Facebook account using a false name; accessing the Internet regularly; and possessing a computer and cell phone." (Pet-App. 105.) He also lied to his agent about social media access and refused to disclose the username and password for his computer. (Pet-App. 105-06."[Plornography was found on the computer, but the State could not determine whether the persons in the pornographic images were under the age of eighteen." (Pet-App. 106.)

King was sentenced after revocation.

The court sentenced King to four years of initial confinement and four years of extended supervision, with the following extended supervision condition: "no use or access to a computer [or cell phone] that has internet access, either be it at residence or place of employment [and] any computer access is to be reported to agent." (Pet-App. 106.)

King moved to vacate the internet-restricting condition and modify his sentence.

King brought the postconviction motion that underlies this petition. He moved for sentence modification and argued that the condition restricting his access to the internet violated his First Amendment rights and must be vacated. (Pet-App. 193.)

The circuit court denied the motion in all respects except that it agreed to consider proposals from the parties to modify the Internet restriction. (Pet-App. 193.)

The circuit court subsequently issued a written order that stated the rules of extended supervision regarding access to the internet and devices capable of accessing the internet:

- 1. The defendant may possess device(s) capable of accessing the internet only with the express permission of the defendant's agent.
- 2. The defendant may access the internet only to the extent and manner as approved by the

defendant's agent. However, the agent shall not withhold permission for the defendant's access through public devices for purposes of obtaining employment or performing any legitimate government functions such as filing taxes or renewing driver's license or license plates, etc.

3. If the possession of devices or access to the internet is approved, the defendant shall provide his agent with the name or number of every electronic mail account he uses, the internet address of every website he creates or maintains, every internet user name he uses, and the name and address of every public or private internet profile he creates, uses, or maintains.

(Pet-App. 194.)

The court of appeals affirmed on appeal, and this petition follows.

King appealed, renewing his arguments that *Packingham* constituted a new factor and that it required vacating his internet restriction condition of supervision because it was unconstitutional. (Pet-App. 108.)

Applying the two-part test set forth in *State v. Rowan*, 2012 WI 60, ¶¶ 4, 10, 341 Wis. 2d 281, 814 N.W.2d 854 the court of appeals addressed whether the challenged condition was unconstitutional because it was "overly broad" or failed to "reasonably relate[] to the person's rehabilitation." (Pet-App. 109.) Before that, however, the court considered whether, as King argued, the holding in *Packingham* alone compels the conclusion that the condition is overly broad. (Pet-App. 112.)

The court of appeals concluded that *Packingham* "does not control [the] analysis." (Pet-App. 114.) First, it concluded that the case did not concern a supervision condition and did not contain any language that directly answered the question of whether internet restrictions "are constitutionally permissible if a person is still on government supervision as

Filed 04-27-2021

part of the sentence." (Pet-App. 114.) Second, it examined cases interpreting *Packingham* in the context of a condition of supervision⁹ and found that many have "declined to extend the holding in *Packingham* to the question of the constitutionality of conditions of supervised release (such as extended supervision) that restrict the supervisee's access to the internet." (Pet-App. 114–16.) It cited cases from five federal appellate courts holding that Packingham did not extend to conditions of supervised release. 10 Third, it considered the three cases on which King relied and found them easily distinguishable. (Pet-App. 116–17.)

The court rejected King's characterization of the internet restriction as a "blanket ban," noting that the condition does permit access with agent approval, that courts have recognized such a requirement as a reasonable condition of supervision, and that Wisconsin courts have upheld "supervisory conditions that require agent approval prior to an exercise of constitutional rights." (Pet-App. 120–22.)

Based on the circuit court's findings at the sentencing after revocation and postconviction hearings, which detailed

⁹ King's Petition characterizes the court's listing of opinions as an "acknowledge[ment] [of] a split of authority," (King's Pet. 9), but the list consists only of a dozen state and federal cases that reject his argument that Packingham is relevant to supervision conditions.

¹⁰ In addition to the five he cited (the 5th, 8th, 9th, 11th and the D.C. Circuits), the 4th and 2nd Circuits have ruled similarly. In a case involving a condition that required a defendant "to obtain the approval of his probation officer or the court before using certain electronic devices," the Fourth Circuit held that "the district court did not abuse its discretion in determining that this supervised release condition was not unconstitutional after Packingham." United States v. DeBolt, 838 F. App'x 785, 786 (4th Cir. 2021). See also United States v. Savastio, 777 F. App'x 4, 7 (2d) Cir. 2019) (distinguishing the facts from Packingham on the grounds that "Savastio... remains subject to supervised release").

Filed 04-27-2021

King's dismal record of noncompliance with internet restrictions (Pet-App. 124–26), the court of appeals concluded that the circuit court had "an ample basis to find that King has not been deterred by those restrictive conditions" and concluded that the internet restriction condition was not overly broad. (Pet-App. 127–28.)

In light of its conclusion that *Packingham* did not apply to persons under supervision while serving a sentence, the court of appeals also concluded that the case did not constitute a new factor for purposes of sentence modification.

King petitioned this Court for review. This Court ordered the State to respond to the petition.

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

King argues that his petition warrants review under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62. (King's Pet. 2.) The State disagrees.

There is no need for this Court to help develop or clarify the law because the court of appeals did so by applying wellestablished, controlling precedent in a published decision. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c); see State v. King, 2020 WI App 66, 394 Wis. 2d 431, 950 N.W.2d 891.

The court discussed and properly applied Rowan, 341 Wis. 2d 281, $\P\P$ 9, 14–15, noting that an analysis of constitutionality required an "individualized determination that the [extended supervision] condition was necessary based on the facts in this case," and thus conducted its analysis "in light of the history and actions of this particular convicted sex offender." (Pet-App. 123.) Because the court of appeals correctly resolved this issue in a published opinion, its decision has already clarified the law in a decision with statewide impact.

The court of appeals decision does not conflict with controlling opinions of this Court. Wis. Stat. § (Rule)

809.62(1r)(d). On the contrary, its analysis is consistent with this Court's reasoning in Rowan. It expressly cited and applied precedent from this Court in reaching its decision. Its conclusion that the supervision condition King challenges is constitutional is neither inconsistent with nor precluded by the holding in *Packingham*.

King asserts that review is imperative because internet restrictions requiring a supervisee to obtain agent approval are "draconian," "do nothing but set up supervisees to fail," and "violate [constitutional] rights." (King's Pet. 2.) But his view has been rejected by at least seven of the eight federal appellate circuit courts that have addressed this question. The reliance on agents to monitor internet restrictions has been widely accepted by the courts.

The court of appeals has answered the questions King poses in his petition. He has not satisfied any of the criteria for review by this Court.

ARGUMENT

I. The court of appeals correctly concluded that King's supervision condition restricting internet access is constitutional.

Α. Relevant legal principles.

It is King's burden to show that an extended supervision condition should be vacated. State v. Hays, 173 Wis. 2d 439, 448, 496 N.W.2d 645 (Ct. App. 1992).

The test set forth for analyzing the constitutionality of conditions of probation has two parts: "[C]onditions of probation may impinge upon constitutional rights as long as they [1.] are not overly broad and [2.] are reasonably related to the person's rehabilitation." Rowan, 341 Wis. 2d 281, ¶ 10. A condition is reasonably related to the person's rehabilitation "if it assists the convicted individual in

conforming his or her conduct to the law." *Id*. "It is also appropriate for circuit courts to consider an end result of encouraging lawful conduct, and thus increased protection of the public, when determining what individualized probation conditions are appropriate for a particular person." *Id*.

B. The condition the circuit court imposed restricting King's access to internet-enabled devices is not overly broad.

King argues that the condition should be vacated because it is overly broad and therefore violates two aspects of his rights under the First Amendment, his right to free speech and his right to freedom of association.¹¹ (King's Pet. 10, 24.)

He cites persuasive authority from New Jersey, Washington, Illinois, and the Third Circuit for the proposition that *Packingham* stands for a robust First Amendment right to internet access that is not compatible with probation agent control over access. (King's Pet. 16–17.) As noted, these jurisdictions have not been persuasive to the majority of courts. He has not shown that the court of appeals' decision, which mirrors most jurisdictions' views of this issue, is an incorrect application of the *Rowan* test, misperceives

violates his right to freedom of association. (King's Pet. 24–25.) The United States Supreme Court has "recognized a right to associate for the purpose of engaging in those activities protected by the First Amendment—speech, assembly, petition for the redress of grievances, and the exercise of religion. The Constitution guarantees freedom of association of this kind as an indispensable means of preserving other individual liberties." Roberts v. U.S. Jaycees, 468 U.S. 609, 617–18 (1984). For purposes of the analysis of the constitutionality of the condition of supervision, the State does not see a need to distinguish the First Amendment rights at issue. See Weber v. City of Cedarburg, 129 Wis. 2d 57, 68, 384 N.W.2d 333 (1986) (noting that "[f]reedom of association is an implied incident of the first amendment guarantees").

Packingham, or is based on incorrect facts. What King is asking this Court to do is accept review, reject the majority rule, and hold that *Packingham* gives him a First Amendment right to internet access without an agent's permission.

He argues that "the takeaway" from *Packingham* is the Court's understanding of "the inadequacy of legacy modes of communication such as print media, broadcast television or radio, and land-line phones as pertaining to exercise of First Amendment rights." (King's Pet. 20.) But King cannot point to any statement that changed the law on conditions of supervision.

The court of appeals properly concluded that the condition was not unconstitutional. This claim does not warrant this Court's review.

II. The court of appeals correctly concluded that sentence modification was not warranted.

A. Principles of law.

A circuit court has inherent authority to modify a defendant's criminal sentence based upon a showing by the defendant of a "new factor." $State\ v.\ Harbor$, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 35, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828. To prevail, the defendant must show the following: (1) a "new factor" exists; and (2) the "new factor" justifies sentence modification. Id. ¶¶ 33, 37–38, 78. A "new factor" is "a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." Id. ¶¶ 40, 52 (quoting $Rosado\ v.\ State$, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975)). "Whether a fact or set of facts presented by the defendant constitutes a 'new factor' is a question of law," reviewed $de\ novo.\ Id$. ¶ 33.

B. *Packingham*'s holding was not highly relevant to King's sentencing and is therefore not a new factor.

King argues that he is entitled to sentence modification on the grounds that *Packingham's* holding was overlooked by the parties at the time of his sentencing. (King's Pet. 25.) He acknowledges that the "narrow factual holding" of Packingham does not concern conditions imposed as a part of a sentence on supervisees. (King's Pet. 25.) However, he contends that "[t]he evolution of the law regarding the First Amendment and the Internet was highly relevant." (King's Pet. 26.) He does not address or explain the numerous jurisdictions that have rejected his reading of Packingham and have continued to affirm internet restriction conditions that are supervised by agents, just as King's is. His view that Packingham represented a sea change in the law regarding the internet has, in short, little to support it. Because many jurisdictions agree that Packingham does not mean what King thinks it means, it is not highly relevant to his sentence and therefore is not a new factor.

This claim does not warrant this Court's review.

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the petition for review.